### No. 18-1835

## UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE SEVENTH CIRCUIT

TISSUE TECHNOLOGY LLC, PARTNERS CONCEPTS DEVELOPMENT, INC., OCONTO FALLS TISSUE, INC. and TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP.,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

**V**.

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC,

Defendant-Appellee.

Appeal From The United States District Court
For the Eastern District of Wisconsin Green Bay Division,
Case No. 2014CV1203
The Honorable William C. Griesbach, Chief Judge

SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS
TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC,
PARTNERS CONCEPTS DEVELOPMENT, INC.,
OCONTO FALLS TISSUE, INC. and
TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP.

TERSCHAN, STEINLE, HODAN & GANZER, LTD.
Michael J. Ganzer
Attorneys for the Plaintiffs-Appellants,
Tissue Technology, LLC, Partners Concepts
Development, Inc., Oconto Falls Tissue, Inc.
And Tissue Products Technology Corp.

309 North Water Street Suite 215 Milwaukee, WI 53202 414-258-1010

### SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX

### STATEMENT OF COUNSEL

I, Michael J. Ganzer, counsel for Appellants, Tissue Technology, LLC, Tissue Products Technology Corp., Oconto Falls Tissue, Inc. and Partners Concepts Development, Inc., and a member of the bar of this Court, certify that all of the materials required by the Seventh Circuit Rule 30(a) and (b) are included in Appellants' Supplemental Appendix.

Dated this 20<sup>TH</sup> day of August, 2018.

TERSCHAN, STEINLE, HODAN & GANZER, LTD.

/s/ Michael J. Ganzer

Michael J. Ganzer State Bar No. 1005631 

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Complaint	Supp. App. 1 – 043
Amended Complaint	Supp. App. 044 – 088

### IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN GREEN BAY DIVISION

TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC, PARTNERS CONCEPTS DEVELOPMENT, INC., OCONTO FALLS TISSUE, INC. and TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP.,

Plaintiffs,

V

Case No.

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC,

Defendant.

#### COMPLAINT

Now come Plaintiffs, TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC ("TTL"), PARTNERS CONCEPTS DEVELOPMENT, INC. ("PCDI"), OCONTO FALLS TISSUE, INC. ("OFTI") and TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP. ("TPTC") (collectively referred to as the "OFTI Group"), by their attorneys, ARNSTEIN & LEHR LLP, by Michael J. Ganzer, of counsel, and as and for their Complaint against TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC ("Investments"), state as follows:

#### PARTIES AND JURISDICTION

1. TTL is a Wisconsin limited liability company with its principal place of business at 2077B Lawrence Drive, De Pere, Wisconsin 54115. The members of TTL are Ronald Van Den Heuvel, a Wisconsin resident, Kelly Van Den Heuvel, a Wisconsin resident, Daniel J. Platowski, a Wisconsin resident, Steven C. Peters, a Wisconsin resident and Paul Damm, an Illinois resident.

1

111872892.1

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 1 of 5 Document 1

 PCDI is a Wisconsin corporation with its principal place of business at 2077B Lawrence Drive, De Pere, Wisconsin 54115.

- 3. OFTI is a Wisconsin corporation with its principal place of business at 2077B Lawrence Drive, De Pere, Wisconsin 54115.
- 4. TPTC is a Wisconsin corporation with its principal place of business at 2077B Lawrence Drive, De Pere, Wisconsin 54115.
- 5. Investments is a Delaware limited liability company with its principal place of business at 400 Professional Drive, Suite 420, Gaithersburg, Maryland 20879. The members of Investments are Sharad Tak, a Florida resident, and Mahinder Tak, a Maryland resident.
- 6. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332 because complete diversity of citizenship exists and the amount in controversy exceeds \$75,000.00.
- 7. Venue in this district is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because a substantial part of the activities, conduct and/or damages in issue occurred in the State of Wisconsin and Defendant has substantial contacts with this judicial district.
- 8. Venue in this district is also proper because, pursuant to the Final Business Terms Agreement at issue, "venue for all disputes shall be a court of competent jurisdiction within the State of Wisconsin." Exhibit 2 at ¶ 8.

### **BREACH OF CONTRACT**

9. On or about April 16, 2007, Investments executed four promissory notes in the amounts of \$3,000,000.00, \$4,400,000.00, \$4,000,000.00 and \$5,000,000.00

(totaling \$16,400,000.00) in favor of TPTC (collectively referred to the "Investment Notes"). Copies of the Investment Notes are attached as group Exhibit 1.

- 10. On or about April 16, 2007, Investments also entered into a written agreement entitled "Final Business Terms Agreement" with the OFTI Group. A copy of the Final Business Terms Agreement is attached as Exhibit 2.
- 11. With respect to the Investment Notes, the Final Business Terms Agreement provides:

If such Investment Notes are deemed cancelled by the OFTI Group after the third anniversary of the date of the Investment Notes, the OFTI Group shall receive an undiluted 27% ownership interest of the highest class in Investments.

Exhibit 2, Final Business Terms Agreement at ¶ G.

- 12. On or about April 17, 2007, TPTC assigned the \$4,400,000 promissory note to William Bain ("Bain").
- 13. On or about March 5, 2008, the payee of the \$4,400,000 promissory note was amended from TPTC to TTL.
- 14. On or about March 5, 2008, Bain acknowledged and agreed to the amendment of the payee of the \$4,400,400 promissory note, and the \$4,400,000 promissory note continued to be assigned to Bain per the terms of the Assignment of Promissory Note.
- 15. On or about August 14, 2014, Bain re-assigned the \$4,400,000 promissory note to TTL.
- 16. Accordingly, as of that date, the OFTI Group was a holder each of the Investment Notes and has an interest in each of the Investment Notes such that it was

capable of deeming them cancelled pursuant to the Final Business Terms Agreement between the parties.

- 17. On or about August 15, 2014, after the third anniversary of the date of the Investment Notes, the OFTI Group notified Investments that the Investment Notes were deemed cancelled. A copy of the August 15, 2014 correspondence is attached as Exhibit 3.
- 18. According to the Final Business Terms Agreement, Investments was thereafter required to transfer an undiluted 27% ownership interest of the highest class in Investments to the OFTI Group. Exhibit 2, Final Business Terms Agreement at ¶ G.
- 19. Despite OFTI Group's demand, Investments has failed and refused to transfer an undiluted 27% ownership interest of the highest class in Investments to the OFTI Group.
- 20. Investments has breached the Final Business Terms Agreement by failing and refusing to transfer an undiluted 27% ownership interest of the highest class in Investments to the OFTI Group.
- 21. As a result of Investments' breach of the Final Business Terms Agreement, the OFTI Group has been damaged.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC, PARTNERS CONCEPTS DEVELOPMENT, INC., OCONTO FALLS TISSUE, INC., and TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP., request judgment in their favor and against Defendant, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, specifically requiring Defendant to transfer an undiluted 27% ownership interest of the highest class in Defendant to Plaintiffs together with court costs and such other relief as this Court deems just and proper.

Respectfully Submitted,

Arnstein & Lehr LLP, counsel for TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC, PARTNERS CONCEPTS DEVELOPMENT, INC., OCONTO FALLS TISSUE, INC., and TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP.,

By:

Michael J. Sanzer, of counsel

State Bar #1005631 309 N. Water Street Suite 215

Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 414-258-1010

mike@tshglaw.com

Walter J. Starck
Sharilee K. Smentek
ARNSTEIN & LEHR LLP
120 S. Riverside Plaza, Suite 1200
Chicago, Illinois 60606
312-876-7100

 Filed: 08/20/2018

Pages: 91

16,400,000 TPTC Notes

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$4,400,000.00

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Maker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TISSUE PRODUCTS

TECHNOLOGY CORP., a Wisconsin corporation ("Payeo"), 1555 Glory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designee as the Payeo shall from time of time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000.00). The unpaid principal balance of this Note shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to eight percent (8%), per annum. Interest shall accrue from the date hereof and shall be payable on a semi-annual basis commencing on October 16, 2007. Principal hereon shall be due and payable in the amount of \$440,000 on April 16, 2008, \$440,000 on April 16, 2009 and \$3,520,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance hereunder.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without premium or penalty. No partial prepayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or omission on the part of Payes or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payes or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or acquiescence in any default hereunder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payes any costs incurred by Payes in the collection of sums due hereunder by Maker including any atterneys' fees.

Maker hereby waives presentment, demand, notice of dishoner and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals hereof without notice. If maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payer to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this Note, shall become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payee agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKER:

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

By: SLEW TS

(Title)

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 1 of 38 Document

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

## PROMISSORY NOTE

\$3,000,000.00

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Maker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP., a Wisconsin corporation ("Payer"), 1555 Glory Road, Groon Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designee as the Payer shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Three Million Dollars (\$3,000,000,00). The unpaid principal balance of this Note shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to eight percent (8%), per annum. Interest shall accrue from the date hereof and shall be payable on a semi-annual basis commencing on October 16, 2007. Principal hereon shall be due and payable in the amount of \$300,000 on April 16, 2008, \$300,000 on April 16, 2009 and \$2,400,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance herounder.

Maker may propay all or any part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without premium or penalty. No partial prepayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) herounder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or omission on the part of Payee or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payee or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or nequiescence in any default hereunder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payee any costs incurred by Payee in the collection of stans due hereunder by Maker including any allomous? fees.

Maker hereby waives presentment, demand, notice of dishonor and protest and consents to any and ail extensions and renewals hereof without notice. If maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payce to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this Note, shall become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payce agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKER:

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

(Title)

mw12)3069\_1

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 2 of 38 Document 1-1

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$4,000,000.00

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Maker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP., a Wisconsin corporation ("Payeo"), 1555 Glory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designee as the Payee shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Four Million Dollars (\$4,000,000,000). The unpaid principal balance of this Note shall be a interest at a rate per annum equal to eight percent (8%), per annum. Interest shall accrue from the date hereof and shall be payable on a semi-annual basis commencing on October 16, 2007. Principal hereon shall be due and payable in the amount of \$400,000 on April 16, 2008, \$400,000 on April 16, 2009 and \$3,200,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance hereunder.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without premium or penalty. No partial prepayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or omission on the part of Payce or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payce or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or acquiescence in any default hereunder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payce any costs incurred by Payce in the collection of sums due hereunder by Maker including any afterneys' fees.

Maker hereby waives presentment, demand, notice of dishonor and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals hereof without notice. If maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankruptey or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payee to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this contains a state of the payer of the payer

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payee agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKER!

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

By: Sumea T-L

(Title)

m\+1233069\_1

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 3 of 38 Document 1-1

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$5,000,000.00

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Maker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP., a Wisconsin corporation ("Payce"), 1555 Glory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designee as the Payce shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Five Million Dollars (\$5,000,000.00). The unpaid principal balance of this Note shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to eight percent (8%), per annum. Interest shall accrue from the date hereof and shall be payable on a semi-annual basis commencing on October 16, 2007. Principal hereon shall be due and payable in the amount of \$500,000 on April 16, 2008, \$500,000 on April 16, 2009 and \$4,000,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the netual days on which there exists an unpaid balance hereunder.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without premium or penalty. No partial prepayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or omission on the part of Payce or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payce or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or acquiescence in any default hereunder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payce any costs incurred by Payce in the collection of sums due hereunder by Maker including any attorneys' fees.

Maker hereby waives presentment, demand, notice of dishoner and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renowals hereof without notice. If maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankruptey or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payee to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this blate, shall become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payee agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKERI

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

By: St. Cie. T.L. (Title)

mw1233069\_1

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 4 of 38 Document 1-1

### )18 Pages: 91

#### FINAL BUSINESS TERMS AGREEMENT

## April /6, 2007

THIS FINAL BUSINESS [FERMS AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is entered into on April 46, 2007, among SHARAD K. TAK ("Tak"), TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC ("Investments"), TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC ("TTL"), PARTNERS CONCEPTS DEVILORMENT, INC. ("PCDI"), OCONTO FALLS TISSUE, INC. ("OFT") and TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP. ("TPTC") [TTL, PCDI, OFTI and TPTC are collectively referred to as "OFTI Group"], and RONALD H. VAN DEN HEUVEL ("Van Den Heuvel").

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Interpretation and Definitions. The following terms used herein shall have the mounings as set forth below:

"Controlled Entity" shall mean any entity or business combination directly or indirectly controlled by Investments or directly or indirectly controlled by any entity or business combination directly or indirectly controlled by Investments.

"Investment Notes" shall mean the four Notes equaling \$16,400,000 executed in favor of TPTC by Investments on the date hereof.

#### 2. Covenants.

- A. Investments shall not apthorize or delegate the authority to any Controlled Entity to terminate the Sales and Marketing Agreement dated as of September 20, 2006 by and between TTL and ST Paper, LLC (an affiliate of Investments), as amended (the "Sales and Marketing Agreement").
- B. Investments shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause its Controlled Entity's to contract with Spirit Construction Services, Inc. ("Spirit") for any construction work within the paper and linerboard industry within the next three years.
- C. Investments shall not authorize or delegate the authority to any Controlled Entity to directly or indirectly pay any distributions to their respective owners other than distributions necessary to satisfy the tax obligations of such owners related to income passed-through to such owners as a result of any such Controlled Entity being taxed as a partnership, S corporation or other passthrough entity.
- D. if Investments or any Controlled Entity or any other entity controlled by Tak individually, constructs or owns any tissue and/or linerboard facility other than their facility in Oconto Falls, Wisconsin (or as part of any substantial addition to the Oconto Falls, Wisconsin facility), then Investments or Tak, as

Fxhihit "R" 1

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 5 of 38 Documen

the case may be, shall cause such entity to enter into a sales and marketing agreement with a member of the OFTI Group on terms and conditions substantially similar to the Sales and Marketing Agreement.

- E. Investments shall deliver the audited financial statements (and if unaudited, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied) for Investments and any Controlled Entity within one hundred twenty (120) days following the end of each such entity's fiscal year.
- F. If there is any payment default, or other event of default that may be cared by the payment of money, by ST Paper, LLC under its credit facility arranged by Goldman Sachs Credit Partners, L.P., then Investments shall permit any member of the OFTI Group to cure any such default if Investments or any tother Controlled Entity is not able to cure such default within sixty (60) days of notice thereof from the lenders (such exercise, a "Step-In Event"). Upon the occurrence of any Step-In Byent, Investments shall immediately reimburse the contributing member of the OFTI Group for any payment(s) made by such member.
- G. Through the third anniversary of the date of each Investment Note, the OFTI Group agrees to pay any payments due for interest or principal required per the terms of the Investment Notes. Each member of the OFTI Group jointly and severally agrees to indemnify Investments and to hold it harmless from and against any and all damages, losses, deficiencies, actions, demands, judgments, fincs, fees, costs and expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, of or against Investments resulting from the OFIT's Group's failure to make such payments, which shall include, without limitation, any claims made by any current or future holder of such Investment Notes against Investments relating to such interest payments. If such Investment Notes are deemed cancelled by the OPTI Group after the third anniversary of the date of the Investment blotes, the OPTI Group shall receive an undiluted 27% ownership interest of the highest class in Investments and such ownership interest shall be above and boyond the ownership interest in item 2.K of this agreement; provided however, if phase 2, as defined below, occurs after the transfer of ownership interest and prior to the tenth anniversary of the date of the Investment Notes, the OFTI Group shall return any ownership interests received from the Investment Notes.
- H. Each member of the OFTI Group agrees if the Phase 2 Financing (as defined below) is consummated on or before the tenth (10th) anniversary of the date of each Investment Note, the unpaid principal balance of each Investment Note shall be automatically reduced to zero, Investments shall have no obligation to pay any unpaid principal or accrued interest thereunder, and each Investment Note shall be deemed cancelled. For purposes of this Agreement, "Phase 2 Financing" shall mean the consummation by Investments (whether individually or in conjunction with an affiliated entity) or Tak (or an entity controlled by Tak) of financing to acquire the existing facility and construct a

linerboard and/or tissue machine at the site presently owned by Eco Fibre, Inc. located at 500 Fortune Avenue in De Pere, Wisconsin using Spirit as general contractor with a minimum construction contract of \$315,000,000.

- I. Each member of the OFTI Group jointly and severally agrees to indemnify Investments and to hold it harmless from and against any and all damages, losses, deficiencies, actions, demands, judgments, fines, fees, costs and expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, of or against Investments resulting from enforcement of the Investment Notes by any member of the OFTI Group (other than the enforcement of the pledge described above), or any enforcement of or other claims made any other current or future holder of such Investment Notes against Investments relating to the Investments Notes.
- J. In the event the collateral pledged to Johnson Bank by the OFTI Group in connection with financial accommodations provided to Investments is either drawn upon by Johnson Bank or provided to Investments, the OFTI Group shall obtain an undiluted 22% of the highest class of ownership interest in Investments provided that some or all such ownership interest may be pledged to Johnson Bank.
- Termination: Upon all Investment Notes being paid in full or deemed cancelled through mutual written consent of both parties, covenants C,G, H and I in Paragraph 2, above, shall terminate.
- 4. Transfer. For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, TTL shall, upon Phase 2 Financing, transfer to Tak or his assignce(s) membership units representing a 22% non-voting (other than with respect to the issues identified in Paragraph 5, below) ownership interest in TTL (the "Subject Units"), free and clear of all liens, claims and encumbrances.
- 5. Limited Liability Company Agreement. The transfer contemplated by Paragraph 4, above, shall be made pursuant to an assignment agreement that shall contain representations, warranties, covenants and indemnities customary for a transfer of membership units in a limited liability company. Tak and his assignee(s) ownership of the Subject Units shall be governed by a Limited Liability Company Agreement that shall contain profit and loss allocations, distribution provisions, management control provisions, transfer restrictions, and other mutually acceptable representations, warranties, and covenants. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Limited Liability Company Agreement shall reflect the following agreements:
  - (a) TTL shall not make or incur liability for, and no manager, officer or other representative shall agree to make or incur liability on TTL's behalf for, any disbursement or expenditure of more than \$10,000 without the prior written approval of Tak or his designee. Further, TTL shall not make or incur liability for, and no manager, officer or other representative shall agree to make or incur liability on TTL's behalf for, disbursements or expenditures in the aggregate exceeding \$1,000,000 during any calendar year without the prior written approval of Tak or his designee. In the event that

TTL makes or incurs liability for such expenditures without the prior written approval of Tak or his designee, the amount of any expenditures made in violation of the preceding sentence shall be deemed to be for the account of Van Den Heuvel and shall reduce his direct or indirect capital account accordingly.

- (b) At all times while Van Den Heuvel owns, either directly or indirectly, any ownership interest in TTL or ST Paper (or any entities that own or control TTL or ST Paper), Van Den Heuvel shall faithfully, diligently and competently perform such services as are required of TTL by the Sales and Marketing Agreement and shall devote his full business time and attention to the affairs of TTL, and Van Den Heuvel shall not, directly or indirectly, render services to any other person or entity (other than VHC, Inc. or Spirit Construction Services, Inc.) without the prior written approval of Tak or his designee.
- (c) At all times while Van Den Heuvel owns, either directly or indirectly, any ownership interest in TTL or ST Paper (or any children that own or control TTL or ST Paper), Van Den Heuvel shall not incur liability (whether fixed or contingent) for, nor be personally responsible for the payment of (whether directly, jointly or by guaranty), financial obligations in excess of \$5,000,000.
- (d) The Subject Units shall continuously represent a 22% ownership interest for all purposes (i.e., profits, losses, distributions, management and control), and shall not be subject to dilution.
- 6. Publicity. Each party agrees not to make any formal statements regarding this transaction without prior approval by the other party, except as required by law.
- 7. Taxes. It is agreed that if there are negative tax consequences to either party arising from the structure of the transactions outlined above, that the parties will use their best efforts to minimize the negative tax consequences, without materially changing the terms of this Agreement.
  - B. Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with Wisconsin law and young for any disputes shall be a court of competent jurisdiction within the State of Wisconsin.

(REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK)

Case: 18-1835 Document: 33 Pages: 91 Filed: 08/20/2018

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Final Business Terms Agreement as of the day, month and year first above written.

TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC

PARTNERS CONCEPTS DEVEOPMENT, INC.

By: Ronald H. Van Den Heuvel

Name: Ronald H. Van Den Heuvel

Title: President

Title: President

OCONTO FALLS TISSUE, INC.

TISSUB PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP.

Name: Ronald H. Van Den Heuvel

Name; Rohald H. Van Den Heuvel

Title: Fresident

Title: President

Ronald H. Van Den Heuvel

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

Sharad K. Tak

By: S Arad Tak Titlo: Manager

### August 15, 2014

Via Certified Malf, Return Receipt Requested Sharad Tak Tak Investments, LLC 401 Professional Drive, Suite 110 Gaithersburg, MD 20879

Re: Notice of Cancellation of Investment Notes

Mr. Tak:

This letter is written on behalf of Tissue Technology, LLC, Partners Concepts Development, Inc., Oconto Falls Tissue, Inc. and Tissue Products Technology Corp. (collectively referred to as the "OFTI Group").

By way of background, on or about April 16, 2007, Tissue Products Technology Corp. ("TPTC") obtained four promissory notes from Tak Investments, LLC ("Tak") in the amounts of \$3,000,000, \$4,000,000, \$4,400,000 and \$5,000,000 respectively (the "Investment Notes"). Copies of the Investment Notes are attached as group Exhibit A. On or about April 17, 2007, TPTC assigned the \$4,400,000 promissory note to William Bain ("Bain"). A copy of the Assignment of Promissory Note is attached as Exhibit B. On or about March 5, 2008, the payee of the \$4,400,000 note was amended from TPTC to Tissue Technology, LLC ("TTL"). A copy of the amended Promissory Note is attached as Exhibit C. On or about March 5, 2008, Bain acknowledged and agreed to the amendment of the Note, and the Note continued to be assigned to Bain per the terms of the Assignment of Promissory Note. A copy of the Amended and Restated Assignment of Promissory Note is attached as Exhibit D.

On or about August 14, 2014, Bain re-assigned the \$4,400,000 note to TTL. A copy of the Re-Assignment of Promissory Note is attached as Exhibit E. Accordingly, as of that date, the OFTI Group is a holder each of the Investment Notes and has an interest in each of the Investment Notes such that it is capable of deeming them cancelled pursuant to the Final Business Terms Agreement between the parties. A copy of the Final Business Terms Agreement is attached as Exhibit F.

111719110.1

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 10 of 38 Document



Notice is hereby given, pursuant to paragraph G of the Final Business Terms Agreement, that the investment Notes are hereby deemed cancelled by the OFTI Group. Accordingly, please have Tak Investments, Inc. immediately transfer an undiluted 27% ownership interest of the high class to the OFTI Group.

Very truly yours,

Ronald H. Van Den Heuvel

### **Enclosures**

Cc: Watter J. Starck, Esq. Sharlee K. Smentek, Esq. Michael J. Ganzer, Esq.

## **EXHIBIT A**

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$3,000,000.00

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Maker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP., a Wisconsin corporation ("Payee"), 1555 Glory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designee as the Payee shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal aum of Three Million Dollars (\$3,000,000.00). The unpul principal balance of this Note shall beer interest at a rate per annum equal to eight percent (8%), per annum. Interest shall accrue from the date hereof and shall be payable on a semi-annual basis commencing on October 16, 2007. Principal hereon shall be due and payable in the amount of \$300,000 on April 16, 2008, \$300,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance hereunder.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without premium or penalty. No partial prepayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(a) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or omission on the part of Payce or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payce or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or nequiescence in any default hereunder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payce any costs incurred by Payce in the collection of sums due hereunder by Maker including any attentors? fees,

Maker hereby waives presentment, demand, notice of dishonor and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals hereof without notice. If maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payce to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this Note, shall become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payee agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKERI

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

By: SL-CrasTE

(Title)

mw1233069\_1

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 13 of 38 Document 1-1

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$4,000,000.00

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (\*Maker\*\*), hereby promises to pay to the order of TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP., a Wisconsin corporation (\*Payeo\*\*), 1555 Olory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designee as the Payeo shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Four Million Dollars (\$4,000,000,00). The unpaid principal balance of this Note shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to eight percent (8%), per annum. Interest shall accound from the date hereof and shall be payable on a semi-annual basis commencing on October 16, 2007. Principal hereon shall be due and payable in the amount of \$400,000 on April 16, 2008, \$400,000 on April 16, 2009 and \$3,200,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance hereunder.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without premium or penalty. No partial prepayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or omission on the part of Payes or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payes or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or acquiescence in any default hereunder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payes any costs incurred by Payes in the collection of sums due hereunder by Maker including any siterneys' fees.

Maker hereby waives presentment, demand, notice of dishonor and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals hereof without notice. If maker becomes subject to any federal or state benkruptey or insulvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payee to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this is, shall become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payee agrees to sumender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKERI

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

By: Su-Pu T-L

(Title)

m#1233069\_1

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 14 of 38 Document 1-1

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$4,400,000.00

CHARLEST THE DOLLARS AND

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Maker"), hereby premises to pay to the order of TISSUE PRODUCTS
TECHNOLOGY CORP., a Wisconsin corporation ("Payee"), 1555 Glory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designee as the Payee shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000.00). The unpaid principal balance of this Note shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to eight percent (8%), per annum. Interest shall accrue from the date hereof and shall be payable on a semi-annual basis commencing on October 16, 2007. Principal hereon shall be due and payable in the amount of \$440,000 on April 16, 2008, \$440,000 on April 16, 2009 and \$3,520,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance hereunder.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without premium or penalty. No partial prepayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or omission on the part of Payee or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payee or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or acquiescence in any default herounder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payee any costs incurred by Payee in the collection of sums due herounder by Maker including any attorneys' fees.

Maker hereby waives presentment, demand, notice of dishonor and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals hereof without notice. If maker becomes subject to say federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payer to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this Note, shall become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payee agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKER:

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

By: Start The (Title)

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 15 of 38 Document 1-1

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

#### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$5,000,000.00

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Maker"), hereby premises to pay to the order of TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP., a Wisconsin corporation ("Payeo"), 1555 Glory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designee as the Payeo shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Five Million Dollars (\$5,000,000.00). The unpoid principal balance of this Note shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to eight percent (8%), per annum. Interest shall accrue from the date hereof and shall be payable on a semi-annual basis commencing on Cotober 16, 2007. Principal hereon shall be due and payable in the amount of \$500,000 on April 16, 2008, \$500,000 on April 16, 2009 and \$4,000,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance hereunder.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without premium or penalty. No partial prepayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or omission on the part of Payee or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payee or such holder shall impall such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or nequiescence in any default herounder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payee any costs incurred by Payee in the collection of sums due herounder by Maker including any attorneys' foes.

Maker hereby waives presentment, demand, notice of dishoner and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals hereof without notice. If maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payce to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this blue, shall become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payee agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof,

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the Internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKER:

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

sy: SL\_Qe\_T2 (Title)

mw1233069\_[

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 16 of 38 Document 1-1

# **EXHIBIT B**

#### ASSIGNMENT OF PROMISSORY NOTE

Tissue Products Technology Corp., ("TPTC") has obtained a promissory note from Tak Investments, LLC ("TAK") in the amount of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000) ("Note"). TPTC acknowledges and agrees that certain monetary obligations are owed to William Bain ("Bain"). In partial consideration for such amounts owed by TPTC to Bain, TPTC hereby assigns the Promissory Note ("Note"), between TAK and TPTC, and proceeds from such Note dated April 16, 2007. Any payments made under the terms of the Note shall be paid directly to Bain or as designated by Bain.

Dated this 17th day of April, 2007

TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP.

By: Ronald H. Van Den Heuvel

Its: President

WILLIAM BAIN

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 18 of 38 Document 1-1

## **EXHIBIT C**

Filed: 08/20/2018 Pages: 91

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RSOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITYES LAWS, PURUSANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$4,400,000.00

March 5, 2008

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Maker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company ("Payee"), 1655 Glory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designee as the Payee shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000.00). The unpaid principal balance of this Note shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to five percent (5%), per annum. Interest shall accrue from the date hereof and shall be payable on an annual basis commencing on March \_\_\_, 2009 and on the final due date hereof. Principal hereon shall be due and payable upon the earlier of 1) the closing of the next ST Paper project (i.e. Utah or Pennsylvania); or 2) on March \_\_\_, 2011. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance hereunder.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without premium or penalty. No partial prepayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or omission on the part of Payee or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payee or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or acquiescence in any default hereunder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payee any costs incurred by Payee in the collection of sums due hereunder by Maker including any attorney's fees.

Maker hereby waives presentment, demand, notice of dishonor and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals itereof without notice. If Maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payee to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this Note, shall become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in fully of this Note, Payee agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the Internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKER:

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

(Tille)

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 20 of 38 Document 1-1

## **EXHIBIT D**

Tissue Products Technology Corp., ("TPTC") obtained a promissory note from Tak Investments, LLC ("TAK.") in the amount of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000) ("Note"). The Note, per the terms of an assignment dated April 17th, 2007 ("Assignment"), was assigned along with any payments per the terms of the Note, to William Bain ("Bain"). As of the date below, the Payee of said Note has been amended from TPTC to Tissue Technology, LLC ("TTL"). Bain hereby u dges and agrees to the amendment of the Note and the Note shall continue to be assigned to Bain per the terms of the Assignment.

Dated this 5th day of March, 2008

TISSUE UCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP.

Van

Its: President

TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC

By: Van Den

Its: President

WILLIAM BAIN

By:

## **EXHIBIT E**

### RE-ASSIGNMENT OF PROMISSORY NOTE

On or about April 16, 2007, Tissue Products Technology Corp. ("TPTC") obtained a promissory note from Tak Investments, LLC ("Tak") in the amount of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000) ("Note"). A copy of the Note is attached as Exhibit 1.

On or about April 17, 2007, TPTC acknowledged and agreed that certain monetary obligations were owed to William Bain ("Bain"). In partial consideration for such amounts owed by TPTC to Bain, TPTC assigned the Note to Bain, including any proceeds from the Note, such that any payments made under the terms of the Note were to be paid directly to Bain or as designated by Bain. A copy of the Assignment of Promissory Note is attached as Exhibit 2.

On or about March 5, 2008, the payee of the Note was amended from TPTC to Tissue Technology, LLC ("TTL"). A copy of the amended Promissory Note is attached as Exhibit 3.

On or about March 5, 2008, Bain acknowledged and agreed to the amendment of the Note, and the Note continued to be assigned to Bain per the terms of the Assignment of Promissory Note. A copy of the Amended and Restated Assignment of Promissory Note is attached as Exhibit 4.

As of the date below, Bain hereby re-assigns the Note (as amended) back to TTL, including any proceeds from the Note, such that any payments made under the terms of the Note are to be paid directly to TTL or as designated by TTL. Bain acknowledges and agrees that he no longer has any interest in the Note (as amended).

Dated this 14 day of August 2014.

WILLIAM BAIN
William C. Lan

TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC

lin.

111719078,1

## **EXHIBIT 1**

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 25 of 38 Document 1-1

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

#### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$4,400,000.00

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Maker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP., a Wisconsin corporation ("Payeo"), 1555 Glory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designee as the Payee shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000.00). The unpaid principal balance of this Note shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to eight percent (8%), per annum. Interest shall accrue from the date hereof and shall be payable on a semi-annual basis commencing on October 16, 2007. Principal hereon shall be due and payable in the amount of \$440,000 on April 16, 2008, \$440,000 on April 16, 2009 and \$3,520,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance horeunder.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpaid belance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without promium or penalty. No partial prepayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or omission on the part of Payee or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payee or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or acquiescence in any default hereunder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payee any costs incurred by Payee in the collection of sums due hereunder by Maker including any attorneys' fees.

Maker hereby waives presentment, demand, notice of dishoner and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals hereof without notice. If maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payer to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this Note, shall become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payee agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the Internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKER:
TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

By: SurenTi

(Title)

my1233069\_1

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 26 of 38 Document 1-1

## **EXHIBIT 2**

### ASSIGNMENT OF PROMISSORY NOTE

Tissue Products Technology Corp., ("TPTC") has obtained a promissory note from Tak Investments, LLC ("TAK") in the amount of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000) ("Note"). TPTC acknowledges and agrees that certain monetary obligations are owed to William Bain ("Bain"). In partial consideration for such amounts owed by TPTC to Bain, TPTC hereby assigns the Promissory Note ("Note"), between TAK and TPTC, and proceeds from such Note dated April 16, 2007. Any payments made under the terms of the Note shall be paid directly to Bain or as designated by Bain.

Dated this 17th day of April, 2007

TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP.

By: Ronald H. Van Den Heuvel

Its: President

WILLIAM BAIN

By: William Bain

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 28 of 38 Document 1-1

## **EXHIBIT 3**

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRRED OR RSOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITYES LAWS, PURUSANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

#### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$4,400,000.00

March 5, 2008

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Maker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company ("Payee"), 1555 Glory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designee as the Payee shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000.00). The unpaid principal balance of this Note shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to five percent (5%), per annum. Interest shall accrue from the date hereof and shall be payable on an annual basis commencing on March \_\_\_, 2009 and on the final due date hereof. Principal hereon shall be due and payable upon the earlier of 1) the closing of the next ST Paper project (i.e. Utah or Pennsylvania); or 2) on March \_\_\_, 2011. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance hereunder.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without premium or penalty. No partial prepayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or emission on the part of Payee or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payee or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or acquiescence in any default hereunder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payee any costs incurred by Payee in the collection of sums due hereunder by Maker including any attorney's fees.

Maker hereby waives presentment, demand, notice of dishonor and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals hereof without notice. If Maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payee to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this Note, shall become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in fully of this Note, Payee agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the Internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKER:

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

By: (Tilla)

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 30 of 38 Document 1-1

### **EXHIBIT 4**

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 31 of 38 Document 1-1

#### AMEDNED AND RESTATED ASSIGNMENT OF PROMISSORY NOTE

Tissue Products Technology Corp., ("TPTC") obtained a promissory note from Tak Investments, LLC ("TAK") in the amount of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000) ("Note"). The Note, per the terms of an assignment dated April 17<sup>th</sup>, 2007 ("Assignment"), was assigned along with any payments per the terms of the Note, to William Bain ("Bain"). As of the date below, the Payee of said Note has been amended from TPTC to Tissue Technology, LLC ("TTL"). Bain hereby acknowledges and agrees to the amendment of the Note and the Note shall continue to be assigned to Bain per the terms of the Assignment.

Dated this 5th day of March, 2008

TISSUB PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP.

By: Ronald H, Van Den Heuvel

Its: President

TISSUB TECHNOLOGY, LLC

By: Ronald H. Van Den Heuvel

Its: President

WILLIAM BAIN

By: William Baln

## **EXHIBIT F**

Document: 33 Filed: 08/20/2018 Pages: 91

FINAL BUSINESS TERMS AGREEMENT

April 16 2007

THIS FINAL BUSINESS [TERMS AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is entered into on April 16, 2007, among SHARAD K. TAK ("Tek"), TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC ("Investments"), TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC ("TTL"), PARTNERS CONCEPTS DEVELORMENT, INC. ("PCDI"), OCONTO FALLS TISSUE, INC. ("OFTI") and TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP. ("TPTC") [Til., PCDI, OFTI and TPTC are collectively referred to as "OFTI Group"], and RONALD H. VAN DEN HEUVEL ("Van Den Heuvel").

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration the parties hereto agree as follows:

Interpretation and Definitions. The following terms used herein shall have the mounings as set forth below:

"Controlled Entity" shall mean any entity or business combination directly or indirectly controlled by Investments or directly or indirectly confrolled by any entity or business combination directly or indirectly controlled by Investments.

"Investment Notes" shall mean the four Notes equaling \$16,400,000 executed in favor of TFTC by Investments on the date hereof.

#### 2. Covennots.

Case: 18-1835

- A. Investments shall not authorize or delegate the authority to any Controlled Entity to terminate the Sales and Marketing Agreement dated as of September 20, 2006 by and between TTL and ST Paper, LLC (an affiliate of Investments), as amonded (the "Sales and Marketing Agreement").
- B. Investments shall use commercially repsonable efforts to cause its Controlled Entity's to contract with Spirit Construction Services, Inc. ("Spirit") for any construction work within the paper and linerboard industry within the next three years.
- C. Investments shall not authorize or delegate the authority to any Controlled Entity to directly or indirectly pay any distributions to their respective owners other than distributions necessary to satisfy the tax obligations of such owners related to income passed-through to such owners as a result of any such Controlled Entity being texed as a partnership, S corporation or other passthrough entity.
- D. if Investments or any Controlled Entity or any other entity controlled by Tak individually, constructs or owns any tissue and/or linerboard facility other than their facility in Oconto Falls, Wisconsin (or as part of any substantial addition to the Oconto Falls, Wisconsin facility), then Investments or Tak, as

Case 1:14-cv-01203-WCG Filed 09/30/14 Page 34 of 38 Document 1-1

the case may be, shall cause such entity to enter into a sales and marketing agreement with a member of the OFTI Group on terms and conditions substantially similar to the Sales and Marketing Agreement.

- E. Investments shall deliver the audited financial statements (and if unaudited, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied) for Investments and any Controlled Entity within one hundred twenty (120) days following the end of each such entity's fiscal year.
- F. If there is any payment default, or other event of default that may be cured by the payment of money, by ST Paper, LLC under its credit facility arranged by Goldman Sachs Credit Partners, L.P., then Investments shall permit any member of the ØFTI Group to cure any such default if Investments or any other Controlled Entity is not able to cure such default within sixty (60) days of notice thereof from the lenders (such exercise, a "Step-In Event"). Upon the occurrence of any Step-In Event, Investments shall immediately reimburse the contributing member of the OFTI Group for any payment(s) made by such member.
- G. Through the third anniversary of the date of each Investment Note, the OFTI Group agrees to pay any payments due for interest or principal required per the terms of the Investment Notes. Each member of the OFTI Group jointly and severally agrees to indemnify Investments and to hold it harmless from and against any and all damages, losses, deficiencies, actions, demands, judgments, fines, fees, costs and expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, of or against Investments resulting from the OFTI's Group's failure to make such payments, which shall include, without limitation, any claims made by any current or future holder of such Investment Notes against Investments relating to such interest payments. If such Investment Notes are deemed cancelled by the OFTI Group after the third anniversary of the date of the Investment Notes, the OPTI Group shall receive an undiluted 27% ownership interest of the highest class in Investments and such ownership interest shall be above and beyond the ownership interest in item 2 K of this agreement; provided however, if phase 2, as defined below, occurs after the transfer of ownership interest and prior to the tenth anniversary of the date of the Investment Notes, the OFTI Group shall return any ownership interests received from the Investment Notes.
- H. Each member of the OFTI Group agrees if the Phase 2 Financing (as defined below) is consummated on or before the tenth (10th) anniversary of the data of each Investment Note, the unpaid principal balance of each Investment Note shall be automatically reduced to zero, Investments shall have no obligation to pay any unpaid principal or accrued interest thereunder, and each investment Note shall be deemed cancelled. For purposes of this Agreement, "Phase 2 Financing" shall mean the consummation by Investmenta (whether individually or in conjunction with an affiliated entity) or Tak (or an entity controlled by Tak) of financing to acquire the existing facility and construct a

linerboard and/or tissue machine at the site presently owned by Eco Fibre, Inc. located at 500 Portune Avenue in De Pere, Wisconsin using Spirit as general contractor with a minimum construction contract of \$315,000,000.

- I. Each member of the OFTI Group jointly and severally agrees to indemnify Investments and to hold it harmless from and against any and all damages, losses, deficiencies, actions, demands, judgments, fines, fees, costs and expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, of or against Investments resulting from enforcement of the Investment Notes by any member of the OPTI Group (other than the enforcement of the pledge described above), or any enforcement of or other claims made any other current or future holder of such Investment Notes against Investments relating to the Investments Notes.
- J. In the event the collateral pledged to Johnson Bank by the OFTI Group in connection with financial accommodations provided to Investments is either drawn upon by Johnson Bank or provided to Investments, the OFTI Group shall obtain an undiluted 22% of the highest class of ownership interest in Investments provided that some or all such ownership interest may be pledged to Johnson Bank.
- Termination: Upon all Investment Notes being paid in full or deemed cancelled through mutual written consent of both parties, covenants C,G,H and I in Paragraph 2, above, shall terminate.
- 4. Transfer. For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, TTL shall, upon Phase 2 Financing, transfer to Tak or his assignee(s) membership units representing a 22% non-voting (other than with respect to the issues identified in Paragraph 5, below) ownership interest in TTL (the "Subject Units"), free and clear of all lions, claims and encumbrances.
- 5. Limited Liability Company Agreement. The transfer contemplated by Paragraph 4, above, shall be made pursuant to an assignment agreement that shall contain representations, warranties, coverants and indemnities customary for a transfer of membership units in a limited liability company. Tak and his assignee(s) ownership of the Subject Units shall be governed by a Limited Liability Company Agreement that shall contain profit and loss allocations, distribution provisions, management control provisions, transfer restrictions, and other mutually acceptable representations, warranties, and covernants. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Limited Liability Company Agreement shall reflect the following agreements:
  - (a) TTL shall not make or incur liability for, and no manager, officer or other representative shall agree to make or incur liability on TTL's behalf for, any disbursement or expenditure of more than \$10,000 without the prior written approval of Tak or his designee. Further, TTL shall not make or incur liability for, and no manager, officer or other representative shall agree to make or incur liability on TTL's behalf for, disbursements or expenditures in the aggregate exceeding \$1,000,000 during any calendar year without the prior written approval of Tak or his designee. In the event that

TTL makes or incurs liability for such expenditures without the prior written approval of Tak or his designee, the amount of any expenditures made in violation of the preceding sentence shall be deemed to be for the account of Van Den Heuvel and shall reduce his direct or indirect capital account accordingly.

- (b) At all times while Van Den Heuvel owns, either directly or indirectly, any ownership interest in TTL or ST Paper (or any entities that own or control TTL or ST Paper), Van Den Heuvel shall faithfully, diligently and competently perform such services as are required of TTL by the Sales and Marketing Agreement and shall devote his full business time and attention to the affairs of TTL, and Van Den Heuvel shall not, directly of indirectly, render services to any other person or entity (other than VHC, Inc. or Spirit Construction Services, Inc.) without the prior written approval of Tak or his designes.
- (c) At all times while Van Den Heuvel owns, either directly or indirectly, any ownership interest in TTL or ST Paper (or any chities that own or control TTL or ST Paper), Van Den Heuvel shall not incur liability (whether fixed or contingent) for, nor be personable for the payment of (whether directly, jointly or by guaranty), financial obligations in excess of \$5,000,000.
- (d) The Subject Units shall continuously represent a 22% ownership interest for all purposes (i.e., profits, losses, distributions, management and control), and shall not be subject to dilution.
- 6. Publicity. Each party agrees but to make any formal statements regarding this transaction without prior approval by the other party, except as required by law.
- 7. Taxes. It is agreed that if there are negative tax consequences to either party arising from the structure of the transactions outlined above, that the parties will use their best efforts to minimize the negative tax consequences, without materially changing the terms of this Agreement.
  - B. <u>Law</u>. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with Wisconsin law and venue for any disputes shall be a court of competent jurisdiction within the State of Wisconsin.

(REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Final Business Terms Agreement as of the day, month and year first above written.

TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC

PARTNERS CONCEPTS DEVEOPMENT, INC.

By: Ronald H Van Den Heuvel

Name; Ronald H. Van Den Heuvel

Title: President

Title: President

OCONTO FALLS TISSUE, INC.

TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP.

Name: Ronald H. Van Den Henvel

Title: Fresidedt

By: Name; Rohald H. Van Den Heuvel

Title: President

Ronald H. Van Den Heuvel

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

Name: Sharad Tak Title: Manager

Sharad K. Tak

#### IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN GREEN BAY DIVISION

TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC, PARTNERS CONCEPTS DEVELOPMENT, INC., OCONTO FALLS TISSUE, INC. and TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP.,

Plaintiffs,

V.

Case No. 14CV1203

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, and SHARAD TAK,

Defendants:

#### AMENDED COMPLAINT

NOW COME the Plaintiffs, TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC ("TTL"), PARTNERS CONCEPTS DEVELOPMENT, INC. ("PCDI"), OCONTO FALLS TISSUE, INC. ("OFTI") and TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP. ("TPTC") (collectively referred to as the "OFTI Group"), by their attorneys, TERSCHAN, STEINLE, HODAN & GANZER, LTD., by Michael J. Ganzer, and as and for their Amended Complaint allege and show to the Court as follows:

#### PARTIES AND JURISDICTION

1. TTL is a Wisconsin limited liability company with its principal place of business at 2077B Lawrence Drive, De Pere, Wisconsin 54115. The members of TTL are Ronald Van Den Heuvel, a Wisconsin resident: Kelly Van Den Heuvel, a Wisconsin resident; Daniel J. Platowski, a Wisconsin resident; Steven C. Peters, a Wisconsin resident; and Paul Damm, an Illinois resident.

2. PCDI is a Wisconsin corporation with its principal place of business at 2077B Lawrence Drive, De Pere, Wisconsin 54115.

- OFTI is a Wisconsin corporation with its principal place of business at 2077B
   Lawrence Drive, De Pere, Wisconsin 54115.
- 4. TPTC is a Wisconsin corporation with its principal place of business at 2077B Lawrence Drive, De Perc, Wisconsin 54115.
- 5. Investments is a Delaware limited liability company with its principal place of business at 400 Professional Drive, Suite 420, Gaithersburg, Maryland 20879. The members of Investments are Sharad Tak, a Florida resident, and Mahinder Tak, a Maryland resident.
- 6. Sharad Tak is a resident of the State of Florida with a home address of 3101 South Ocean Dr., #2708, Hollywood, Florida 33019.
- 7. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1332 because complete diversity of citizenship exists and the amount in controversy exceeds \$75,000.00.
- 8. Venue in this district is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) because a substantial part of the activities, conduct and/or damages in issue occurred in the State of Wisconsin and Defendants have substantial contacts with this judicial district.
- 9. Venue in this district is also proper because, pursuant to the Final Business Terms Agreement at issue, "venue for all disputes shall be a court of competent jurisdiction within the State of Wisconsin." Exhibit 1 at ¶8.

#### FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION - BREACH OF CONTRACT

10. On or about April 16, 2007, Investments entered into an agreement entitled Final Business Terms Agreement with the OFTI Group, a copy of the Final Business Terms

Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit No. 1. Defendant Sharad Tak signed the Agreement individually along with his signature for Defendant Tak Investments LLC.

- 11. On or about April 16, 2007, as part and parcel of the Final Business Terms Agreement afore referenced, Investments executed four Promissory Notes in the amount of \$3 million, \$4,400,000.00, \$4 million and \$5 million, totaling \$16,400,000.00, in favor of TPTC. Copies of those Notes are attached hereto and incorporated herein and marked as Exhibit 2.
- 12. In addition to the foregoing, two other sets of Notes were executed at the time of the closing including Seller Notes and a Sales and Marketing Agreement. The Sales and Marketing Agreement is subject to an action pending in Oconto County Circuit Court, Case #14CV156.
- 13. With respect to the Investment Notes, the Final Business Terms Agreement provides:

If such Investment Notes are deemed cancelled by the OFTI Group after the third anniversary of the date of the Investment Notes, the OFTI Group shall receive an undiluted 27% ownership interest of the highest class in Investments . . . .

Exhibit 1, Final Business Terms Agreement at ¶ G.

- 14. At the time of the transaction in April, 2007, the defendant, Tak Investments, and its subsidiary. ST Paper, Inc., received good and valuable title to all of the assets of the Oconto Falls Tissue Inc. (OFTI) tissue mill.
- 15. At about the time of the transaction described herein, the tissue mill was valued at in excess of \$86 million.
- 16. The aforementioned transaction was financed in several ways. Goldman Sachs Credit Partners LP provided a \$65 million loan and a \$5 million revolving loan to ST Paper.

17. In addition to the Goldman Sachs financing, the aforementioned Notes were created (Exhibit No. 2).

18. On or about April 17, 2007, TPTC assigned the \$4,400,000 promissory note to William Bain ("Bain").

19. On or about March 5, 2008, the payce of the \$4,400,000 promissory note was amended from TPTC to TTL.

20. On or about March 5, 2008, Bain acknowledged and agreed to the amendment of the payee of the \$4,400,400 promissory note, and the \$4,400,000 promissory note continued to be assigned to Bain per the terms of the Assignment of Promissory Note.

21. On or about August 14, 2014, Bain re-assigned the \$4,400,000 promissory note to TTL.

= 22. Accordingly, as of that date, the OFTI Group was a holder of each of the Investment Notes and has an interest in each of the Investment Notes such that it was capable of deeming them cancelled pursuant to the Final Business Terms Agreement between the parties.

23. On or about August 15, 2014, after the third anniversary of the date of the Investment Notes, the OFTI Group notified Investments and Sharad Tak that the Investment Notes were deemed cancelled. A copy of the August 15, 2014 correspondence is attached as Exhibit 3.

24. According to the Final Business Terms Agreement, Investments was thereafter required to transfer an undiluted 27% ownership interest of the highest class in Investments to the OFTI Group. Exhibit 1, Final Business Terms Agreement at ¶ G.

25. Despite OFTI Group's demand, Investments and Tak have failed and refused to transfer an undiluted 27% ownership interest of the highest class in Investments to the OFTI

Group. They have not paid the Notes issued with the Final Business Terms Agreement.

26. Investments and Tak have breached the Final Business Terms Agreement by

failing and refusing to transfer an undiluted 27% ownership interest of the highest class in

Investments to the OFTI Group. In addition, Investments and Tak have failed and refused to

honor and pay the Notes associated therewith.

27. As a result of the breaches of Investments' and Tak of the Final Business Terms

Agreement, the OFTI Group has been damaged.

28. Plaintiffs have sought specific performance upon the Final Business Terms

Agreement providing for the 27% ownership interest in the defendant, to the plaintiffs. Upon the

parties' cross Motions for Summary Judgment, the Court has denied that requested relief as it

relates to Tak Investments.

29. As a result of the defendants' breach of the Final Business Terms Agreement, and

failure to pay the Notes, the Notes are now due and payable to the plaintiff with interest thereon.

30. In the event the Court deems the contracts set forth above to be indefinite or

uncertain, it is requested that the Court construe the contracts against the drafters and favorably

towards the plaintiffs herein.

31. Defendant Tak Investments, LLC and Sharad Tak have breached their implied

duty of good faith.

32. As a result of the foregoing, the Plaintiffs seek the entry of judgment on the Notes

in the amount of \$16,400,000.00 along with interest as provided in the notes at 8% per annum.

Case: 18-1835 Document: 33 Pages: 91 Filed: 08/20/2018

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION - UNJUST ENRICHMENT

33. Plaintiffs reallege and reincorporate herein as if fully set forth all of the preceding

allegations.

The defendants have been unjustly enriched should the aforementioned contracts 34.

and notes be deemed unenforceable.

The Plaintiffs have conferred substantial benefit upon defendant Tak Investments, 35.

LLC and Sharad Tak. Tak Investments LLC and Sharad Tak knowingly accepted the benefit to

wit: all right, title and interest in the Oconto Falls tissue mill.

36. The acceptance and/or retention of that benefit, under the circumstances, would

be inequitable and therefore the defendant should not be able to retain that benefit.

37. The defendant has been unjustly enriched thereby entitling the Plaintiffs to

damages in an undetermined amount.

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs herein respectfully request judgment on each of the Notes

of not less than \$34 million which includes interest and principal of not less than \$30 million

against the defendants and each of them. In the alternative, the plaintiffs seek judgment under the

Doctrine of Unjust Enrichment in an undetermined amount against the defendants and each of

them; all to include the costs and disbursements of this action and such other and further relief as

the Court deems just and proper; and,

WHEREFORE upon entry of Judgment against Tak Investments, LLC, the Plaintiffs

respectfully request the appointment of a receiver.

Filed: 08/20/2018 Pages: 91

Dated this 9th day of January, 2017,

TERSCHAN, STEINLE, HODAN & GANZER, LTD. ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS.

BY: /s/ MICHAEL J. GANZER MICHAEL J. GANZER **STATE BAR NO. 1005631** 

P.O. ADDRESS:

309 NORTH WATER STREET SUITE 215 MILWAUKEE, WI 53202 414-258-1010

#### FINAL BUSINESS TERMS AGREEMENT

### April 16, 2007

THIS FINAL BUSINESS [LERMS AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is entered into on April 16, 2007, innong SHARAD K. TAK ("Tok"), TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC ("Investments"), TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC ("TTL"), PARTNERS CONCEPTS DEVISION, INC. ("PCDI"), OCONTO FALLS TISSUE, INC. ("OFTI") and TISSUE PRODUCTS DECONOLOGY CORP. ("TPTC") [TIM, PCDI, OFTI and TPTC are collectively referred to as "OFTI Group"], and RONALD II. VAN DEN HEUVEL. ("Vun Den Henvel").

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration the parties hereto agree as follows:

Interpretation and Defibilions, The following terms used herein shall have the meanings as not forth below:

"Confiolled Entity" shall meen way entity or business combination directly or indirectly controlled by Investments or directly or indirectly confrolled by any entity or business combination directly or indirectly controlled by Investments.

"Investment Notes" shall mean the four Notes equaling \$16,400,000 executed in favor of TPTC by Investments on the date hereof,

#### 2. Covenants.

- A. Investments shall not authorize or delegate the authority to any Controlled Entity to terminate the Sales and Marketing Agreement dated as of September 20, 2006 by and between TTL and ST Paper, LLC (an affiliate of Investments), as amended (the "Sales and Marketing Agreement").
- B. Investments shall use commercially repsonable offorts to cause its Controlled Entity's to contract with Spirit Construction Services, Inc. ("Spirit") for any construction work within the paper and finerboard industry within the next three years.
- C. Investments shall not authorize or delegate the authority to any Controlled Entity to directly or indirectly pay my distributions to their respective owners other than distributions necessary to satisfy the tax obligations of such owners related to income passed through to such owners as a result of any such Controlled Entity being taxed as a partnership, S corporation or other passthrough entity.
- if Investments or any Controlled Entity or any other entity controlled by Tak individually, constructs or owns my tissue and/or line; board facility other than their facility in Oconto Falls, Wisconsin (or as part of any substantial addition to the Oconto Falls, Wisconsin facility), then Investments or Tak, as



the case may be, shall cause such entity to enter into a sales and marketing agreement with a member of the OFTI Group on terms and conditions substantially similar to the Sales and Marketing Agreement.

- E. Investments shall deliver the audited financial statements (and if unaudited, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied) for Investments and any Controlled Entity within one hundred twenty (120) days following the end of each such entity's fiscal year.
- F. If there is any payment defatalt, or other event of default that may be cared by the payment of money, by ST Paper, LLC under its credit facility arranged by Goldman Sachs Credit Partners, L.P., then investments shall permit any member of the OFTI Group to care any such default if investments or any tother Controlled Entity is not able to care such default within sixty (60) days of notice thereof from the lenders (such exercise, a "Step-In Event"). Upon the occurrence of any Step-In Eyent, Investments shall immediately reimburse the contribution member of the OFTI Group for any payment(s) made by such member.
- G. Through the third anniversary of the date of each Investment Note, the OFTI Group agrees to pay any payments due for interest or principal required per the terms of the Investment Notes. Each member of the OFTI Group jointly and severally agrees to indeputify Investogents and to hold it harmless from and against any and all damages, losses, deficiencies, actions, demands, judgments, fines, fees, costs and expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, of or against Investments resulting from the OFIT's Group's failure to make such payments, which shall include, without limitation, any chique made by any current or future holder of such Investment Notes against Investments religing to such injerest payments. If such Investment Notes are deemed cancelled by the OFTI Group after the third anniversary of the date of the Investment plotes, the OFTI Group shall receive an undiluted 27% ownership interest of the highest class in Investments and such ownership interest shall be above and beyond the ownership interest in item 2.K of this agreement; provided however, if pluse 2, as defined below, occurs after the transfer of ownership interest and prior to the tenth anniversary of the date of the Investment Notes, the OFTI Group shall return any ownership interests received from the Investment Notes.
- H. Each member of the OFTI Group agrees if the Phasa 2 Financing (as defined below) is consummated on or before the tenth (10th) universary of the data of each Investment Note, the unpaid principal balance of each Investment Note shall be automatically reduced to zero, investments shall have no obligation to pay any unpaid principal or accused interest thereunder, and each investment Note shall be deepned cancelled. For purposes of this Agreement, "Phase 2 Financing" shall mean the consummation by Investments (whether individually or in conjunction with an affiliated eatity) or Tak (or an entity controlled by Tak) of formating to acquire the existing facility and construct a

linerboard and/or tissue machine at the site presently owned by Eco Fibre, Inc. located at 500 Fortune Avenue in De Pere, Wisconsin using Spirit as general contractor with a minimum construction contract of \$315,000,000.

- I. Bach member of the OFTI Group jointly and severally agrees to indemnify investments and to hold it harmless from and against any and all damages, losses, deficiencies, actions, demands, judgments, fines, fees, costs and expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, of or against investments resulting from enforcement of the Investment Notes by any member of the OFTI Group (other than the enforcement of the pledge described above), or any enforcement of or other claims made any other current of future holder of such investment Notes against investments relating to the Investments Notes.
- J. In the event the collineral pledged to Johnson Bank by the OFTI Group in gomection with financial accommodations provided to Investments is either drawn upon by Johnson Bank or provided to Investments, the OFTI Group shall obtain an undiluted 22% of the highest class of ownership interest in Investments provided that some or all such ownership interest may be pledged to Johnson Bank.
- Termination: Upon all Investment Notes being paid in full or deemed cancelled through mutual written consent of both parties, covenants C,G,H and I in Paragraph 2, above, shall terminate.
- 4. Transfer. For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, TTL shall, upon Phase 2 Financing, transfer to Tak or his assigned(s) membership units representing a 22% non-voting (other than with respect to the issues identified in Paragraph 5, below) ownership interest in TTL (the "Subject Unita"), free and clear of all liens, claims and encombrances.
- 5. Limited Liability Company Agreement. The transfer contemplated by Paragraph 4, above, shall be made pursuant to an assignment agreement that shall contain representations, warranties, coverants and indemnities customery for a transfer of membership units in a limited liability company. Tak and his assignee(s) ownership of the Subject Units shall be governed by a Limited Liability Company Agreement that shall contain profit and loss allocations, distribution provisions, management control provisions, transfer restrictions, and other manually acceptable representations, warranties, and covenants. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Limited Liability Company Agreement shall reflect the following agreements:
  - (a) TTL shall not make or incur liability for, and no manager, officer in other representative shall agree to make or incur liability on TTL's behalf for, any disbursement or expenditure of more than \$10,000 without the prior written approval of tak or his designee. Further, TTL shall not make or incur liability for, and no manager, officer or other representative shall agree to make or incur liability on TTL's behalf for, disbursements or expenditures in the aggregate exceeding \$1,000,000 during any calcular year without the prior written approval of Tak or his designee. In the event that

TTL makes or incurs liability for such expenditures without the prior written approval of Tak or his designee, the amount of any expenditures made in violation of the preceding sentence shall be deemed to be for the account of Van Den Henvel and shall reduce his direct or indirect capital account accordingly.

- (b) At all times while Van Den Heuvel owns, either directly or indirectly, any ownership interest in TTL or ST Paper (or any entities that own or control TTL or ST Paper), Van Den Heuvel shall fulthfully, diligently and competently perform such services as are required of TTL by the Sales and Marketing Agreement and shall devote his full business time and attention to the affajra of TTL, and Van Den Heuvel shall not, directly of indirectly, render services to any other person or entity (other than VHC, Inc. or Spirit Construction Services, Inc.) without the prior written approval of Tak or his designee.
- (c) At all times while Van Den Heuvel owns, either directly or indirectly, my ownership interest in TTL or ST Paper (or any childes that own or control TTL or ST Paper). Van Den Heuvel shall not incur lipbility (whether fixed or contingent) for, nor be personally responsible for the payment of (whether directly, jointly or by guaranty). (innancial obligations in excess of \$5,000,000.
- (d) The Subject Units shall continuously represent a 22% ownership interest for all purposes (i.e., profits, losses, distributions, mariagement and control), and shall not be subject to dilution.
- 6. Publicity. Each party agrees but to make any formal statements regarding this transaction without prior approval by the other party, except as required by law.
- 7. Taxes. It is agreed that if there are negative tax consequences to either party arising from the structure of the transactions outlined above, that the parties will use their best efforts to minimize the negative tax consequences, without materially changing the terms of this Agreement.
  - P. Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with Wisconsin law and yenue for any disputes shall be a court of competent jurisdiction within the State of Wisconsin.

(REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Final Business Terms Agreement as of the day, month and year first above written.

4	
TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC	PARTNERS CONCEPTS DEVEOPMENT, INC.
By: Ronald H. Van Den Heuvel Title: President	By: Name: Rouald H. Van Den Henvel Title: President
oconto falls tissue, inc.	TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP.
By: Ronald H. Van Den Henve Title: I resident	By: Nume; Ronald H, Van Den Heuvol Title: President
Ronald H. Van Den Henvel	
TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC	
By: Brand Tak	Shared K. Tak
ISBURE STREET TREE	CHICAGO INC. 188

Title: Nimnger

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1931, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

#### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$3,000,000,00

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTRENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Maker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP., a Wisconsin corporation ("Payee"), 1555 Glory Road, Groon Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designed as the Payco shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Three Million Dollars (\$3,000,000.00). The unpuld principal balance of this Note shall beer interest at a rate per momen aqual to eight percent (8%), per namin. Interest aball accrue from the date hereof and shall be payable on a semi-annual bests commencing on October 16, 2007. Principal hereon shall be due and payable in the amount of \$300,000 on April 16, 2008, \$300,000 on April 16, 2009 and \$2,400,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance herounder.

Maker may propay all or any part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without promines or penalty. No partial propayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or omission on the part of Payco or any holder of this Note in exercialng any right or option given to Payco or such holder shall impuly such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or nequiescence in any default hereunder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payee my costs incurred by Payor in the collection of sums due becaunder by Maker including any afferneys' fees.

Maker hereby varives procedured, demand, notice of dishonor and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals hereof without notice. If maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payce to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this Note, shall become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payee agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKER:

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

(Title)

mw1233069 1

Supp. App. 056

TIMS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

#### PROMISSORYNOTE

\$4,000,000,00

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Maker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TISSUE PRODUCTS TECKINOLOGY CORP., a Wisconsin corporation ("Payeo"), 1555 Clery Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54104, or such other place or designee as the Payeo shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Four Million Dollars (\$4,000,000.00). The unpaid principal balance of this Note, shall bear interest at a rate per annual equal to eight percent (\$%), per annual. Interest shall accord from the thereof and shall be payable on a semi-annual basis commencing on October 16, 2007. Principal horson shall be due and payable in the amount of \$400,000 on April 16, 2008, \$400,000 on April 16, 2009 and \$3,200,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance hereunder.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without promitim or penalty. No partial prepayment shall relieve Maker of Maker abligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in fulf.

No delay or emission on the part of Payes or any holder of this Nois in exercising any right or option given to Payes or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or nequisseence in any default hereunder. Maker shall be abligated to pay to Payes any costs incurred by Payes in the collection of sums due hereunder by Maker including any alterneys' fees.

Maker hereby walves presenting to demand, notice of dishonor and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals hereof without notice. If maker becomes subject to any federal or state benderaptoy or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentatest on belief of Payce to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other animals due on and in accordance with this is a plant become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payee agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKER!

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

By: St. la Ti.

mw (233069 I

THIS NOTE WAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE WAY NOT HE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SEGURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

#### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$4,400,000.00

FARMOUND TO THE PROPERTY OF THE PARTY OF THE

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAX INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Meker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TRISTLE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP., a Wisconsin corporation ("Payee"), 1555 Glory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designed as the Payee shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Four Million Pour Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000.00). The impaid principal behaves of this Note shall be ar interest at a rate per annum equal to eight percent (\$%), per annum. Interest shall record from the date hereof and shall be payable on a semi-annual basis commencing on October 16, 2007. Principal hereon shall be due and payable in the amount of \$440,000 on April 16, 2008, \$440,000 on April 16, 2009 and \$3,520,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance becomeder.

Maker may prepay all or any puri of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without premium or penalty. No partial prepayment thall relieve Maker of Maker a obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or emission on the part of Payce or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payce or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or acquiescence in any default herounder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payce any costs housed by Payce in the collection of sums due hiercunder by Maker including any attorneys' fees.

Maker hereby walves presentment, domand, notice of dishoner and protest and consent to any and all extensions and renewals hereof without notice. If maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payco to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this Note, shall become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payce agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKEN:

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

By: Standay 19. (Till)

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OH EXEMPTION THEREFROM,

#### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$5,000,000,00

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Maker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TISSUE PRODUCTS TECKINDLOGY CORT., a Wisconsin corporation ("Payen"), 1555 Glory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designed as the Payco shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Five Million Dollars (\$5,000,000.00). The uppaid principal bulance of this Note shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to eight percent (8%), per amount. Interest shall accuse from the date hereof and stiall be payable on a soul-annual basis commencing on October 16, 2007. Principal herean shall be due and payable in the amount of \$500,000 on April 16, 2008, \$500,000 on April 16, 2009 and \$4,000,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpull balance becomeder.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpaid belance of this Note at my time, and from time to time, without premium or penulty. No partial prepayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or omission on the part of Payee or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payee or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or acquiescence in any default herounder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payeo any costs incurred by Payce in the collection of sums due hereunder by Maker including any attenneys' fees.

Maker hereby waives presentment, domand, notice of dishonor and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals hereof willient notice. If maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankruptey or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on helialf of Payce to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in recordance with this Mete, shall become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payee agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof,

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKERI

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

By: St. Qu.T.L (Title)

mw1233069 1

Document: 33 Case: 18-1835 Filed: 08/20/2018 Pages: 91

#### August 15, 2014

#### Via Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested Sharad Tak

Tak Investments, LLC 401 Professional Drive, Suite 110 Gaithersburg, MD 20879

Notice of Cancellation of Investment Notes

Mr. Tak:

This letter is written on behalf of Tissue Technology, LLC, Partners Concepts Development, Inc., Oconto Falls Tissue, Inc. and Tissue Products Technology Corp. (collectively referred to as the "OFTI Group").

By way of background, on or about April 16, 2007, Tissue Products Technology Corp. ("TPTC") obtained four promissory notes from Tak Investments, LLC ("Tak") in the amounts of \$3,000,000, \$4,000,000, \$4,400,000 and \$5,000,000 respectively (the "Investment Notes"). Copies of the Investment Notes are attached as group Exhibit A. On or about April 17, 2007, TPTC assigned the \$4,400,000 promissory note to William Bain ("Bain"). A copy of the Assignment of Promissory Note is attached as Exhibit B. On or about March 5, 2008, the payee of the \$4,400,000 note was amended from TPTC to Tissue Technology, LLC ("TTL"). A copy of the amended Promissory Note is attached as Exhibit C. On or about March 5, 2008, Bain acknowledged and agreed to the amendment of the Note, and the Note continued to be assigned to Bain per the terms of the Assignment of Promissory Note. A copy of the Amended and Restated Assignment of Promissory Note is attached as Exhibit D.

On or about August 14, 2014, Bain re-assigned the \$4,400,000 note to TTL. A copy of the Re-Assignment of Promissory Note is attached as Exhibit E. Accordingly, as of that date, the OFTI Group is a holder each of the Investment Notes and has an interest in each of the Investment Notes such that it is capable of deeming them cancelled pursuant to the Final Business Terms Agreement between the parties. A copy of the Final Business Terms Agreement is attached as Exhibit F.

111719110.1



Notice is hereby given, pursuant to paragraph G of the Final Business Terms Agreement, that the Investment Notes are hereby deemed cancelled by the OFTI Group. Accordingly, please have Tak Investments, Inc. Immediately transfer an undiluted 27% ownership interest of the high class to the OFTI Group.

Very truly yours,

Ronald H. Van Deri Heuvel

**Enclosures** 

Cc: Walter J. Starck, Esq.

Sharilee K. Smentek, Esq. Michael J. Ganzer, Esq.

# EXHBITA

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

#### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$3,000,000,00

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Makor"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TYSSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP., a Wisconsin corporation ("Payon"), 1555 Glory Road, Gross Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designee so the Payer shall from time to time direct in writing to the Makor the principal sum of Three Million Dollars (\$3,000,000.00). The unpaid principal balance of this Note strall bear interest at a rate per namum equal to eight percent (8%), per nomum. Interest chall accrue from the date hereof and shall be payable on a semi-annual basis commencing on October 16, 2007. Principal hereon shalf be due and payable in the amount of \$300,000 on April 16, 2008, \$100,000 on April 16, 2009 and \$2,400,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be ententated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance hereunder.

Maker may propay all or my part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without premium or penalty. No partial propayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the tegularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No dolay or omission on the part of Payce or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payre or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or acquiescence in any default hereunder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payee any costs incurred by Payon in the collection of sums the hereunder by Maker Including my afformage focus

Maker heroby walves presentment, demand, notice of dishonor and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals hereof without notice. If maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankenptcy or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payce to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this More, shall become lumrediately due and payable.

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payce agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof,

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Wisconsia.

MAKER:

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

By: St. Court

(Title)

mw1233069 1

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

#### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$4,000,000.00

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited limbility company ("Maker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP., a Wisconsin corporation ("Payeo"), 1555 Glory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designee as the Payeo shall from lime to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Four Million Dollars (\$4,000,000.00). The napsid principal balance of this Mote shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to eight percent (\$%), per annum. Interest shall neers from the date hereof and shall be payable on a semi-annual basis commencing on October 16, 2007. Principal become shall be due and payable in the annual of \$400,009 on April 16, 2008, \$400,000 on April 16, 2009 and \$3,200,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance hereunder.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without promium or penalty. No partial prepayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or omission on the part of Payce or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payce or such holder shall impuir such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or acquiescence in any default hereunder. Maker shall be obligated to play to Payce any costs incurred by Payce in the collection of sums due hereunder by Maker including any alterneys' fees.

Maker hereby waives presentment, demand, notice of dishonor and protest and consents to any und all extensions and renovals hereof without notice. If maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankruptey or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payer to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this interest, shall become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payce agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Wisconsin,

MAKERI

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

By: St. - Cu. T-L. (Title)

mw 1233069\_1

THIS NOTE MAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

#### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$4,400,000.00

HOLYGRED MINE LUCINOS CONTROL CO

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited Hability company ("Maker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TIESUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP., a Wisconsin corporation ("Payee"), 1555 Glory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54394, or such other place or designee as the Payee shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Four Million Pour Hundred Thousand Dellars (\$4,400,000.00). The unpaid principal balance of this Note shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to eight percent (\$26,000,000). Interest shall accrue from the date hereof and shall be payable on a semi-annual basis commencing on October 16, 2007. Principal hereon shall be due and payable in the amount of \$440,000 on April 16, 2008, \$440,000 on April 16, 2009 and \$3,520,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the setual days on which there exists an unpaid balance becomed.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without premium or penalty. No partial prepayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or omission on the part of Payes or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payes or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or acquisecones in any default hereunder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payes any costs incurred by Payes in the collection of sums due becaunder by Maker including any attorneys' fees.

Maker hereby waives presentment, demand, notice of dishonor and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals hereof without notice. If maker becomes subject to any federal or state bank ruptey or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payeo to blaker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this Note, shall become intractintely due and payable.

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payce agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKEN:

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

By: St. City Til. (Title)

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

#### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$5,000,000.00

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Maker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP., a Wisconsin corporation ("Payee"), 1555 Glory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designue as the Payee shell from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Pive Million Dollars (\$5,000,000.00). The unpaid principal balance of this Note shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to eight percent (8%), per annum. Interest shall accuse from the date hereof and shall be payable on a semi-annual basis commencing on October 16, 2007. Principal hereon shall be due and payable in the amount of \$500,000 on April 16, 2005, \$500,000 on April 16, 2009 and \$4,000,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be encounted based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance becomeder.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without premium or penalty. No partial prepayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(a) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or omission on the part of Payce or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payce or such holder shall impuls such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or acquiescence in any default herounder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payce any costs incurred by Payce in the collection of sums due hereunder by Maker including any atterneys' fees.

Maker hereby waives presentment, domand, notice of dictioner and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals hereof without unties. If maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankruptey or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payes to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this bless, shall become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payre agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKER:

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

By: St. Steen L. (Title)

mw1233069\_1

## EXHIBIT B

#### ASSIGNMENT OF PROMISSORY NOTE

Tissue Products Technology Corp., ("TPTC") has obtained a promissory note from Tak Investments, LLC ("TAK") in the amount of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000) ("Note"). TPTC acknowledges and agrees that certain monetary obligations are owed to William Bain ("Bain"). In partial consideration for such amounts owed by TPTC to Bain, TPTC hereby assigns the Promissory Note ("Note"), between TAK and TPTC, and proceeds from such Note dated April 16, 2007. Any payments made under the terms of the Note shall be paid directly to Bain or as designated by Bain.

Dated this 17th day of April, 2007

TISSUB PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP.

Hy: Ronald H. Van Den Henvel

Its: President

WILLIAM BAIN

By: William Bain

## EXHIBIT C

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRRED OR RSOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITYES LAWS, PURUSANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

#### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$4,400,000.00

March 5, 2008

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Maker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company ("Payee"), 1555 Glory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designee as the Payee shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000.00). The unpaid principal balance of this Note shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to five percent (5%), per annum. Interest shall accrue from the date hereof and shall be payable on an annual basis commencing on March \_\_\_, 2009 and on the final due date hereof. Principal hereon shall be due and payable upon the earlier of 1) the closing of the next ST Paper project (i.e. Utah or Pennsylvania); or 2) on March \_\_\_, 2011. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance hereunder.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpald balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without premium or penalty. No partial prepayment shall refleve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or omission on the part of Payee or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payee or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or acquiescence in any default hereunder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payee any costs incurred by Payee in the collection of sums due hereunder by Maker including any atterney's fees.

Maker hereby waives presentment, demand, notice of dishonor and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals hereof without notice. If Maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payee to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this Note, shall become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in fully of this Note, Payee agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the Internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKER:

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

By: Si-Certs (Tille)

### EXHIBIT D

#### AMEDNED AND RESTATED ASSIGNMENT OF PROMISSORY NOTE

Tissue Products Technology Corp., ("TPTC") obtained a promissory note from Tak Investments, LLC ("TAK") in the amount of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000) ("Note"). The Note, per the terms of an assignment dated April 17<sup>th</sup>, 2007 ("Assignment"), was assigned along with any payments per the terms of the Note, to William Bain ("Bain"). As of the date below, the Payee of said Note has been amended from TPTC to Tissue Technology, LLC ("TTL"). Bain hereby acknowledges and agrees to the amendment of the Note and the Note shall continue to be assigned to Bain per the terms of the Assignment.

Dated this 5th day of March, 2008

TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP.

Hy: Ronald H. Van Den Henvel

Its: President

TISSUB TECHNOLOGY, LLC

By: Ronald H. Van Den Heavel

Its: President

WILLIAM BAIN

By: William Bain

## EXHIBIT E

#### RE-ASSIGNMENT OF PROMISSORY NOTE

On or about April 16, 2007, Tissue Products Technology Corp. ("TPTC") obtained a promissory note from Tak Investments, LLC ("Tak") in the amount of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000) ("Note"). A copy of the Note is attached as Exhibit 1.

On or about April 17, 2007, TPTC acknowledged and agreed that certain monetary obligations were owed to William Bain ("Bain"). In partial consideration for such amounts owed by TPTC to Bain, TPTC assigned the Note to Bain, including any proceeds from the Note, such that any payments made under the terms of the Note were to be paid directly to Bain or as designated by Bain. A copy of the Assignment of Promissory Note is attached as Exhibit 2.

On or about March 5, 2008, the payee of the Note was amended from TPTC to Tissue Technology, LLC ("TTL"). A copy of the amended Promissory Note is attached as Exhibit 3.

On or about March 5, 2008, Bain acknowledged and agreed to the amendment of the Note, and the Note continued to be assigned to Bain per the terms of the Assignment of Promissory Note. A copy of the Amended and Restated Assignment of Promissory Note is attached as Exhibit 4.

As of the date below, Bain hereby re-assigns the Note (as amended) back to TTL, including any proceeds from the Note, such that any payments made under the terms of the Note are to be paid directly to TTL or as designated by TTL. Bain acknowledges and agrees that he no longer has any linterest in the Note (as amended).

Dated this 14 day of August 2014.

WILLIAM BAIN

TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC

Ву: 🚊

Its: 125/0600

111719078.1

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED OR RESOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PURSUANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

#### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$4,400,000.00

April 16, 2007

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Maker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP., a Wisconsin corporation ("Payee"), 1555 Glory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designee as the Payee shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000.00). The unpaid principal balance of this Note shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to eight percent (8%), per annum. Interest shall accrue from the date hereof and shall be payable on a semi-annual basis commencing on October 16, 2007. Principal hereon shall be due and payable in the amount of \$440,000 on April 16, 2008, \$440,000 on April 16, 2009 and \$3,520,000 on April 16, 2010. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance hereunder.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time to time, without premium or penalty. No partial prepayment shall relieve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or omission on the part of Payee or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payee or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a waiver thereof or acquiescence in any default hereunder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payee any costs incurred by Payee in the collection of sums due hereunder by Maker including any attorneys? fees.

Maker hereby waives presentment, demand, notice of dishoner and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals hereof without notice. If maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payee to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this Note, shall become immediately due and payablo.

Upon payment in full of this Note, Payce agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKER:

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

y; S. - Cu Ts.

(Title)

mw1233069\_1

#### ASSIGNMENT OF PROMISSORY NOTE

Tissue Products Technology Corp., ("TPTC") has obtained a promissory note from Tak Investments, LLC ("TAK") in the amount of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000) ("Note"). TPTC acknowledges and agrees that certain monetary obligations are owed to William Bain ("Bain"). In partial consideration for such amounts owed by TPTC to Bain, TPTC hereby assigns the Promissory Note ("Note"), between TAK and TPTC, and proceeds from such Note dated April 16, 2007. Any payments made under the terms of the Note shall be paid directly to Bain or as designated by Bain.

Dated this 17th day of April, 2007

TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP.

By: Ronald H. Vnn Den Henvel

Ita: President

WILLIAM BAIN

By: William Bain

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE. THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRRED OR RSOLD EXCEPT AS PERMITTED UNDER THE ACT AND THE APPLICABLE STATE SECURITYES LAWS, PURUSANT TO REGISTRATION OR EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

#### PROMISSORY NOTE

\$4,400,000.00

March 5, 2008

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Maker"), hereby promises to pay to the order of TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company ("Payee"), 1556 Glory Road, Green Bay, Wisconsin 54304, or such other place or designee as the Payee shall from time to time direct in writing to the Maker the principal sum of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000.00). The unpaid principal balance of this Note shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to five percent (5%), per annum. Interest shall accrue from the date hereof and shall be payable on an annual basis commencing on March \_\_\_, 2009 and on the final due date hereof. Principal heroon shall be due and payable upon the earlier of 1) the closing of the next ST Paper project (i.e. Utah or Pennsylvania); or 2) on March \_\_\_, 2011. Interest shall be calculated based on a year consisting of 360 days applied to the actual days on which there exists an unpaid balance hereunder.

Maker may prepay all or any part of the unpaid balance of this Note at any time, and from time, without premium or penalty. No partial prepayment shall refleve Maker of Maker's obligations to make the regularly scheduled payment(s) hereunder until the unpaid balance of this Note is paid in full.

No delay or emission on the part of Payee or any holder of this Note in exercising any right or option given to Payee or such holder shall impair such right or option or be considered as a weiver thereof or acquiescence in any default hereunder. Maker shall be obligated to pay to Payee any costs incurred by Payee in the collection of sums due hereunder by Maker including any attorney's fees.

. Maker hereby walves presentment, demand, notice of dishonor and protest and consents to any and all extensions and renewals hereof without notice. If Maker becomes subject to any federal or state bankruptcy or insolvency action, without the requirement of notice or presentment on behalf of Payee to Maker, this outstanding principal and interest, and all other amounts due on and in accordance with this Note, shall become immediately due and payable.

Upon payment in fully of this Note, Payee agrees to surrender this Note to Maker for cancellation thereof.

This Note shall be construed in accordance with the Internal laws of the State of Wisconsin.

MAKER:

TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC

By: Si-les 3

(Title)

#### AMEDNED AND RESTATED ASSIGNMENT OF PROMISSORY NOTE

Tissue Products Technology Corp., ("TPTC") obtained a promissory note from Tak Investments, LLC ("TAK") in the amount of Four Million Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$4,400,000) ("Note"). The Note, per the terms of an assignment dated April 17<sup>th</sup>, 2007 ("Assignment"), was assigned along with any payments per the terms of the Note, to William Bain ("Bain"). As of the date below, the Payee of said Note has been amended from TPTC to Tissue Technology, LLC ("TTL"). Bain hereby acknowledges and agrees to the amendment of the Note and the Note shall continue to be assigned to Bain per the terms of the Assignment,

Dated this 5th day of March, 2008

TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP.

By: Ronald H. Van Den Heuvel

Its: President

TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC

By: Romald H. Van Den Heuvel

Its: President

WILLIAM BAIN

By: William Bain

# EXHIBIT F

#### FINAL BUSINESS TERMS AGREEMENT

### April 16, 2007

THIS PINAL BUSINESS TERMS AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is entered into on April 26, 2007, among SHARAB K. TAK ("Tak"), TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC ("Investments, LLC ("THE"), PARTNERS CONCEPTS DEVIL DIMENT, INC. ("PCDI"), OCONTO FALLS TISSUE, INC. ("OFTP") and TISSUE TRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP. ("TPTC") [TIL., PCDI, OFTI and TPTC are collectively referred to as "OPTI Group"], and RONALD H. VAN DEN HEUVEL ("Van Den Heuvel").

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Interpretation and Definitions. The following terms used herein shall have the meanings as set forth below:

"Controlled Entity" shall mean any entity or business combination directly or indirectly controlled by Investments or directly or indirectly compolled by any entity or business combination directly or indirectly controlled by investments.

"flivestment Notes" shall mean the four Notes equaling \$16,400,000 executed in favor of TPTC by Investments on the date hereof.

#### 2. Coverning.

- A. Investments shall not authorize or delegate the authority to any Controlled Entity to terminate the Sales and Marketing Agreement dated as of September 20, 2006 by and between TTL and ST Paper, LLC (an affiliate of Investments), as amended (the "Sales and Marketing Agreement").
- B. Investments shall use commuterially repsonable afforts to cause its Controlled Butity's to compact with Spirit Construction Services, Inc. ("Spirit") for any construction work within the paper and linerboard (adustry within the next three years.
- C. Investments shall not authorize or delegate the authority to any Controlled Entity to directly or indirectly pay any distributions to their respective owners other than distributions necessary to satisfy the tax obligations of such owners related to income passed-through to such owners as a result of any such Controlled Entity being taxed as a partnership, S corporation or other passthrough entity.
- D. if Investments or any Controlled Entity or any other entity controlled by Tak individually, constructs or owns any tissue and/or linerboard facility other than their facility in Oconto Falls, Wisconsin (or as part of any substantial addition to the Oconto Falls, Wisconsin facility), then Investments or Tak, as

the case may be, shall cause such entity to enter into a sales and marketing agreement with a member of the OFTI Group on terms and conditions substantially similar to the Sales and Marketing Agreement.

- E. Investments shall deliver the audited financial statements (and if unaudited, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied) for Investments and any Controlled Butity within one hundred twenty (120) days following the end of each such entity's fiscal year.
- F. If there is any payment default, or other event of default that may be cuted by the payment of money, by ST Paper, LLC under its credit facility arranged by Goldman Sacha Credit Partners, L.P., then Investments shall permit any member of the OFTI Group to core any such default if Investments or any other Controlled Entity is not able to ours such default within sixty (60) days of notice thereof from the lenders (such exercise, a "Step-In Event"). Upon the occurrence of any Step-In Eyent, Investments shall immediately reinburse the contributing member of the OFTI Group for any payment(s) made by such member.
- G. Through the third anniversary of the date of each Investment Note, the OFTI Group agrees to pay any payments due for interest or principal required per the terms of the Investment Notes. Each member of the OFTI Group jointly and severally agrees to indemnify investments and to hold it humless from and against any and all damages, lossus, deficiencies, actions, demands, judgments, fines, fees, costs and expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, of or against Investments resulting from the OFIT's Group's failure to make such payments, which shall include, without limitation, any claims made by any current or future helder of such investment Notes against Investments religing to such inferest payments. If such Investment Notes are deemed cancelled by the OFTI Group after the third anniversary of the date of the Investment Motes, the OPTI Group shall receive an undiluted 27% ownership interest of the highest class in Investments and such ownership interest shall be above and beyond the ownership interest in item 2.K of this agreement; provided however, if phase 2, as defined below, occurs after the transfer of ownership interest and prior to the tenth anniversary of the date of the Investment Notes, the OFTI Group shall return any ownership interests received from the Investment Notes.
- H. Each member of the OFTI Group agrees if the Phase 2 Financing (as defined below) is consummated on or before the tenth (10th) anniversary of the date of each investment Note, the unpaid principal balance of each investment Note shall be automatically reduced to zero, investments shall have no obligation to pay any unpaid principal or accrued interest thereunder, and each investment Note shall be deerned cancelled. For purposes of this Agreement, "Phase 2 Financing" shall mean the consummation by investments (whether individually or in conjunction with an affiliated entity) or Tak (or an entity controlled by Tak) of financing to acquire the existing facility and construct a

> linerboard and/or tissue machine at the site presently owned by Eco Fibre, Inc. located at 500 Fortune Avenue in De Pere, Wisconsin using Spirit as general contractor with a minimum construction contract of \$315,000,000.

- I. Bach member of the OFTI Group jointly and severally agrees to indemnify Investments and to hold it harmless from and against any and all damages, losses, deficiencies, actions, demands, judgments, fines, fees, costs and expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, of or against Investments resulting from enforcement of the Investment Notes by any mumber of the OFTI Group (other than the enforcement of the pledge described above), or any enforcement of or other claims made any other current of future holder of such Investment Notes against Investments relating to the Investments Notes.
- J. In the event the collateral pledged to Johnson Bank by the OFTI Group in connection with financial accommodations provided to Investments is either drawn upon by Johnson Bank or provided to Investments, the OFTI Group shall obtain an undiluted 22% of the highest class of ownerable interest in Investments provided that some or all such ownership interest may be pledged to Johnson Bank.
- Termination: Upon all Investment Notes being paid in full or decayed cancelled through mutual written consent of both parties, covenants C,G, H and I in Paragraph 2, above, shall terminate.
- Transfer. For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, TTL shall, upon Phase 2 Financing, transfer to Tak or his assigned(s) membership units representing a 22% non-voting (other than with respect to the issues identified in Pangraph 5, below) ownership interest in TTL (the "Subject Units"), free and clear of all liens, claims and encumbrances.
- Limited Liability Company Agreement. The transfer contemplated by Puragraph 4, above, shall be made pursuant to an exsignment agreement that shall contain representations, warranties, covenants and indemnities customory for a transfer of membership units in a limited liability company. Tak and his assignee(s) ownership of the Subject Units shall be governed by a Limited Liability Company Agreement that shall contain profit and loss allocations, distribution provisions, management control provisions, transfer restrictions, and other matually accomable representations, warranties, and covenants. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Limited Liability Company Agreement shall reflect the following agreements:
  - TTL shall not make or incur liability for, and no manager, officer or other representative shall agree to make or incur liability on TTL's behalf for, any disbursement or expenditure of more than \$10,000 without the prior written approval of Tak or his designee. Further, TTL shall not make or incur liability for, and no manager, officer or other representative shall agree to make or incur liability on TTL's behalf for, disbursements or expenditures in the aggregate exceeding \$1,000,000 during my calcular year without the prior written approval of Tak or his designee. In the event that

TTL makes or incurs liability for such expenditures without the prior written approval of Tak or his designee, the amount of any expenditures made in violation of the preceding sentence shall be deemed to be for the account of Van Den Heuvel and shall reduce his direct or indirect capital account accordingly.

- (b) At all times while Van Den Heuvel owns, either directly or indirectly, any ownership interest in TIL or ST Paper (or any entities that own or control TIL or ST Paper), Van Den Heuvel shall faithfully, diligently and competently perform such services as are required of TIL by the Sales and Marketing Agreement and shall devote his full business time and attention to the affairs of TIL, and Van Den Heuvel shall not, directly of indirectly, render services to any other person or entity (other than VHC, Inc. or Spirit Construction Services, Inc.) without the prior written approval of Tak or his idesignee.
- (c) At all times while Van Den Fleuvei owns, either directly or indirectly, any ownership interest in TTL or ST Paper (or any obtities that own or control TTL or ST Paper), Van Den Heuvel shall not incur liability (whether fixed or contingent) for, nor be personially responsible for the payment of (whether directly, jointly or by guaranty), financial obligations in excess of \$5,000,000.
- (d) The Subject Units shall continuously represent a 22% ownership interest for all purposes (i.e., profits, losses, distributions, management and control), and shall not be subject to dilution.
- 6. Publicity. Each party agrees but to make any formal statements regarding this transaction without prior approval by the other party, except as required by law.
- 7. Taxes. It is agreed that if there are negative tax consequences to either party wrising from the structure of the transactions outlined above, that the parties will use their best efforts to minimize the negative tax consequences, without materially changing the terms of this Agreement.
  - Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with Wisconsin law and yenue for any disputes shall be a court of competent jurisdiction within the State of Wisconsin.

(REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK)

Document: 33 Case: 18-1835 Filed: 08/20/2018 Pages: 91

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Final Business Terms Agreement as of the day, month and year first above written. PARTNERS CONCEPTS DEVEOPMENT, INC. TISSUE TECHNOLOGY, LLC By: Name: Roundd H. Van Den Heuvel Name: Ronald H. Van Den Heuvel Title: President Title: President TISSUE PRODUCTS TECHNOLOGY CORP. OCONTO FALLS TISSUE, INC. By: Nume; Robald H. Van Den Heuvel Name: Ronald H. Van Den Henvel Title: President Title: Freeidadt Ronald H. Van Den Heuvel TAK INVESTMENTS, LLC Name: Shared Tak Title: Manager Shared K. Tak